“The Legacy of General Gómez”:	Comment by AMY HUDNALL: As always, your papers are elegantly written and a pleasure to read. I have made some minor changes or notes. As usual very little to change. But I do think you could reconsider your intro and conclusion. In particular the conclusion. If it were my paper I would tighten my intro, make it shorter and more pointed as to your thesis (consider taking the section of intro about Gomez and colleagues and making a new paragraph, you are starting the story here, not introducing the premise for the paper.) Clearly you have to include Gomez in the intro since he is part of the title of your paper, but you don’t necessarily have to have all the info you have in the first paragraph as of now. In the conclusion I would consider completely adding a new paragraph that took pieces from the last paragraph but returned to some of the key ideas and language in your intro like the Teller Amendment. When I read the conclusion I expected to keep reading. It was too abrupt and it introduced new ideas that should be in the body of the paper not in the conclusion. 
I think the paper would be stronger with revised intro’s and conclusions. 

Also, some technical things. I went through and for consistency, changed all the dates to read date month year. You had it both ways and Chicago encourages it be done this way. 

I also began removing the double spaces between sentences and punctuation. Silly, but any journal will remove them for space. 

I changed all the hyphens in dates to e/n dashes, and all the double hyphens to e/m dashes. 

typically, when discussing a particular empire, like US Empire, you capitalize both words. I did not change this since you refer to Cuban Empire and US Empire and I assumed you were making a conscious statement by not capitalizing empire. 

I went through the notes and made consistent the shortened titles of any sources previously cited. 


Resistance and Collaboration Within America’s Cuban Empire, 1898–--1902

In 1898, the administration of William McKinley intervened in the Cuban War for Independence.  In 1899, this same administration decided to create an independent republic of Cuba. The decision was unusual for that time.[footnoteRef:1] The McKinley Administration could have followed the examples of European powers, annexing Cuba with a promise of future independence, much as it did with the Philippines.  But not Cuba, which leads to the question:  When it came to Cuba, why did the Americans choose to “build” a nation rather than annex one?  The short answer is that the Cubans would never have permitted annexation.  Having fought the Spanish for decades, the leaders of Cuba’s War for Independence would have resisted annexation by force had McKinley attempted to ignore the Teller Amendment, America’s promise to respect Cuban independence.[footnoteRef:2] The  —longer—and much more interesting—answer is that annexation proved unnecessary.  During the occupation, the Americans found just enough prominent Cubans willing to	Comment by AMY HUDNALL: Just wanted you to know that according to Chicago, when setting up notes you cite the sources you are using first followed by the content of the note. I don’t think this works well with your notes so I didn’t make changes to the organizational structure. My inclination would be to see how anal the journal that accepts the article is. However, wanted you to have the info so you could make your own informed decision. This is what Chicago says: 
14.32 Citations plus commentary
When a note contains not only the source of a fact or quotation in the text but related substantive material as well, the source comes first. A period usually separates the citation from the commentary. Such comments as “emphasis mine” are usually put in parentheses. See also 13.60.

11. Shakespeare, Julius Caesar, act 3, sc. 1. Caesar’s claim of constancy should be taken with a grain of salt.
12. Little, “Norms of Collegiality,” 330 (my italics). [1:  For more on the French Empire’s mission civilisatrice, see Alice Conklin, A Mission to Civilize: The Republican Idea in France and West Africa (Redwood City, CA:  Stanford University Press, 1997), 11–37, 246–256; for more on Britain’s civilizing ideology, see John Darwin, The Empire Project: The Rise and Fall of the British World System, 1830–1970 (Cambridge, UK:  Cambridge University Press, 2009), 144–179, 180–216; Julian Go, Patterns of Empire: The British and American Empires, 1688 to the Present (Cambridge, UK:  Cambridge University Press, 2011), 53–66; and Bernard Porter, Empire and Superempire:  Britain, America, and the World (New Haven, CT: Yale University Press, 2006), 49–46.  Julian Go finds more similarities than differences in the ways the US and British governments supervised their colonial possessions in his valuable, interdisciplinary study. That said, even Go admits that the American experience with formal possessions was comparatively brief. The Russian Empire also had a civilizing mission, though its experience with decolonization came in the late 20th century.  See Dominic Lieven, Empire: The Russian Empire and Its Rivals (New Haven, CT: Yale University Press, 2001), 216–224.  ]  [2:  The Teller Amendment, named after Senator Henry M. Teller of Colorado, a “Silver Republican” who voted with the Democrats, was an exercise in ambiguity.  Attached to a Senate resolution, the amendment required the US government to refrain from annexing Cuba, but it did not require the McKinley Administration to recognize the insurgent’s nascent government—the most likely leaders of post-war Cuba —or set forth a process by which Cuba could become an independent republic. See David F. Healy, The United States in Cuba, 1898–1902: Generals, Politicians, and the Search for Policy (Madison: University of Wisconsin Press, 1963), 24–29. 
] 

collaborate with American policy.  These allies consisted not only of the planters and businessmen who comprised the Cuban bourgeoisie, but also the nationalists, veterans of Cuba’s long struggle for independence.  The most important of these unlikely allies, but by no means the only one, was General Máximo Gómez, general in chief of the Cuban Army of Independence.  During the course of America’s first occupation of Cuba, General Gómez and his comrades in a freedom movement called Cuba Libre, gradually came to accept Cuba’s new role within the US empire. Absent their collaboration, the Platt Amendment, the foremost symbol of America’s Cuban empire, would never have found its way into the Cuban Constitution of 1901. 	Comment by AMY HUDNALL: Date? 	Comment by AMY HUDNALL: Is this sufficient to explain Cuba Libre until you get to the point where you are really talking about it in detail—page 6? But I am not sure, in the next paragraph you talk about the movement enough that you may want to move some of the introductory info on Cuba Libre found in the last paragraph on page 6 here. 	Comment by AMY HUDNALL: Are you using the terms Cuba Libre and Cuban independence interchangeably in this paragraph? It sounds as if you are
Collaboration by the leaders of Cuba Libre has received comparatively little attention from historians of US foreign relations.  This is true not only of older works, but also of more recent contributions by prominent authors.3[footnoteRef:3]  Four recent surveys, for example, present the Cubans as survivors of, not collaborators with, the US occupation, especially when it came to the Platt Amendment.  More surprising, historians of Cuba writing in English also leave important aspects of this collaborative relationship unexamined.  Louis A. Pérez, for example, easily the most important English-language historian of Cuba writing in English today, depicts the Cubans as victims of a coercion they were unable to resist.  In this, Pérez may have taken a cue from his Cuban colleagues in Cuba, who prefer to depict members of the Cuban bourgeoisie as collaborators and the leaders of Cuba Libre as having been coerced.[footnoteRef:4]  Whatever their fields, common among these historians is the notion that the Americans were largely free to do as they pleased in Cuba, and the Cubans, whatever their politics, presented few obstacles or fewer opportunities.  	Comment by AMY HUDNALL: In the previous paragraph it is unclear whether the bourgeoisie are part of Cuba Libre or independent, can you expand on that in the previous paragraph for a little more clarity here.  [3:  Most of the standard works mentioned above give little attention to the occupation.  Two important exceptions exist.  The first, David Healy’s, The United States in Cuba is a thorough treatment of the occupation.  The second, Phillip S. Foner’s The Spanish-Cuban-American War, surveys the entire war and its aftermath.  See Phillip S. Foner, The Spanish-Cuban-American War and the Birth of American Imperialism (New York:  Monthly Review Press, 1972), 2: 422–632.  For more recent contributions, see George C. Herring, From Colony to Superpower: US Foreign Relations Since 1776 (New York:  Oxford University Press, 2008), 324–325; Lars Schoultz, That Infernal Little Cuban Republic: The United States and the Cuban Revolution (Chapel Hill:  University of North Carolina Press, 2009), 12–25; Elizabeth Cobbs Hoffman, American Umpire (Cambridge, MA:  Harvard University Press, 2013), 162–169; Walter LaFeber, The American Search for Opportunity. The New Cambridge History of American Foreign Relations, 2 (New York:  Cambridge University Press, 2013), 141–144. LaFeber alone seems prepared to acknowledge that circumstances in Cuba and the Cubans themselves dissuaded Americans from pursuing annexation, though his discussion of Cuban agency stops there.]  [4:  Pérez has written the best and most important works in English on this subject. See Louis A. Pérez, Jr., Cuba Between Empires, 1878–1902 (Pittsburgh, PA:  University of Pittsburgh Press, 1983), 315–327, 376–386; and Pérez, Cuba Under the Platt Amendment, 1902–1934 (Pittsburgh: University of Pittsburgh Press, 1986), 41–44. Pérez has argued persuasively that internal conflicts within the Cuba Libre community rendered the Cubans unable to resist American coercion. For more on the centrality of coercion, see also Foner, The Spanish-Cuban-American War, 2: 613–-632. Ada Ferrer alone saw evidence of a strong basis for nationalist collaboration with the US in the years before the occupation. See Ada Ferrer, in her Insurgent Cuba: Race, Nation, and Revolution, 1868–1898 (Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press). Among Cuban historians writing in Spanish, see the following works by Emilio Roig de Leuchsenring, Los Estados Unidos contra Cuba Libre (Havana, Cuba:  Oficina del Historiador de la Ciudad, 1960); La lucha cubana por la República de Cuba contra la anexión y la Enmienda Platt, 1899–1902 (Havana, Cuba:  Oficina del Historiador de la Ciudad, 1952); Historia de la Enmienda Platt (Havana, Cuba:  Oficina de la Historiador de la Ciudad de La Habana, 1955). See also Manuel Márquez Sterling, Proceso histórico de la Enmienda Platt, 1897–1934; Calixto Masó y Vásquez, Historia de Cuba:  La lucha de un pueblo por cumplir su destino histórico y su vocación de libertad, 2nd ed. (Miami, FL:  Ediciones Universal, 1975); Herminio Portell Vilá, Historia de la guerra de Cuba y Los Estados Unidos contra España (Havana, Cuba:  Oficina del Historiador de la Ciudad, 1949).  ] 

Such an interpretation has merit.  Without American coercion, Cubans would have never submitted to the Platt Amendment.    But it is also true that at crucial points in the occupation, including the Platt Amendment but also before concerning and the question of annexation, the Cubans did much to influence the course of the US occupation.  Their reasons for doing so ranged from the pragmatic to the aspirational:  coercion by US leaders was an essential, but by no means a sufficient, factor to accomplish US goals.  Of course, these facts do not make the Cubans necessarily complicit in their own domination,; nor do they make the Americans necessarily more benign.[footnoteRef:5]  But they do open up possibilities for re-examining not only the Platt Amendment, but also the role of collaboration in of the American empire Empire in Cuba and beyond.  	Comment by AMY HUDNALL: The Platt Amendment comes as a point in the occupation? Odd wording, would have been the enforcement or enactment of the amendment at a point, clarify	Comment by AMY HUDNALL: In the note below see the highlighted word DATE. This is how to set up a reprint, the date here needs to be the original publication date, the date at the end of the parentheses is the reprint date [5:  The term “collaborator” is usually used pejoratively, but I do not mean to do so here because there are many different kinds of collaborators. As Robert Paxton demonstrated, some collaborators do more than acquiesce; indeed, as in the case of Vichy France, some collaborators furthered the policies of their occupiers quite willingly, asking for closer relations, not fewer demands. See Robert O. Paxton, Vichy France: Old Guard and New Order, 1940–1944 (DATE: repr., New York: Columbia University Press, 1982), 3–63, 330–383. Cuba’s nationalists, however, chose to collaborate for a host of complex and understandable reasons, however unfortunate the results.  ] 

I
US leaders considered the Cubans largely unfit for self-government.  This idea was part of a sophisticated ideology that conflated whiteness with civilization.  To be white was to be civilized, or at least to be more civilized than non-whites, and Anglo-Saxons were the most civilized of all, possessed of a unique capacity for self-government.[footnoteRef:6]  Because of their comparative success, Americans believed that they had a “mission” to bring the blessings of democracy to those less fortunate, much as they had already done for (what they considered to be) an unpopulated American West in the first half of the 19th century.[footnoteRef:7]  By the end of that century, the United States government also had the capacity to realize this vision of itself in the world.[footnoteRef:8]  To be sure, there was no shortage of men who believed that expansion abroad would undermine democracy at home, but these men were not in charge of America’s Cuban policy.[footnoteRef:9]  Instead, America was in the hands of men who believed that the racially inferior Cubans had much to learn from the more superior Anglo-Saxons— -- and they intended to make sure that the Cubans learned their lessons well.   [6:  We may define ideology as a set of ideas held by a discrete group of people that purport to describe normative power relations. Put more crudely, sitting at the intersection of power, ideas, and social relations, ideology allows groups to explain why they should have more power and other people should have less. For more on ideology as a tool of analysis, see Terry Eagleton, Ideology: An Introduction (London: Verso, 2007), 1–31. ]  [7:  The literature concerning America’s foreign policy ideology during the 19th century is vast and continues to grow. Notable works include: Thomas Hietala, Manifest Design: Anxious Aggrandizement in Late Jacksonian America (Ithaca, NY: Cornell University Press, 1985); Frederick Merk, Manifest Destiny and Mission in American History (New York: Knopf, 1963); Bradford Perkins, The Creation of a Republican Empire, 1776–1865, Cambridge History of American Foreign Relations, 1 (New York: Cambridge University Press, 1993); Anders Stephanson, Manifest Destiny: American Expansionism and the Empire of Right (New York: Hill and Wang, 1995). Of particular relevance to this period are: Kristin L. Hoganson, Fighting for American Manhood: How Gender Politics Provoked the Spanish-American and Philippine-American Wars (New Haven, CT: Yale University Press, 1998); Matthew Frye Jacobson, Barbarian Virtues: The United States Encounters Foreign Peoples at Home and Abroad, 1876–1917 (New York: Hill and Wang, 2001); Paul T. McCarthy, Power and Progress: American National Identity, the War of 1898, and the Rise of American Imperialism (Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press, 2006). Louis A. Pérez, Jr. offered an excellent analysis of American ideology with respect to Cuba in Cuba in the American Imagination: Metaphor and the Imperial Ethos (Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press, 2008). ]  [8:  By the end of that century, the United States government also had the capacity to realize this vision of itself in the world. By now the world’s largest economy, America’s leaders began to see that their nation had interests throughout the world. See Paul Kennedy, The Rise and Fall of the Great Powers: Economic Change and Military Conflict, 1500–2000 (New York: Random House), 242–249.  ]  [9:  For analyses of the American anti-imperialist movement, see Robert Beisner, Twelve Against Empire: The Anti-Imperialists, 1898–1900 (Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1985); Richard Welch, Response to Imperialism: The United States and the Philippine-American War, 1899–1902 (Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press, 1979), 43–57; and Matthew Frye Jacobson, Barbarian Virtues, 228–234. See also George C. Herring, From Colony to Superpower, 322–324.. ] 

This does not mean that the Americans intended to annex Cuba, however.  Such a course was impossible.  The Teller Amendment, passed by the US Congress and signed by President McKinley, had promised Cuban independence; it would be awkward to renege on a promise given so proudly and so publicly.  Making more matters more complex, domestic sugar growers, afraid of Cuban sugar invading their domestic markets would have opposed such a move.[footnoteRef:10]  Then there was the issue of race.  Cuba, like the US, had practiced racial slavery.  As Americans knew only too well, at least one third of the Cuban population was of African descent, a fact that some notable anti-imperialists noted.[footnoteRef:11]  	Comment by AMY HUDNALL: Check the page numbers in the footnote where you have see also, David F. Healy…. You have 205-205 [10:  Domestic sugar interests had powerful friends in Congress. Henry Teller, author of the amendment that came to bear his name, was one of them. A senator from Colorado, home to a growing beet sugar industry, Teller accused the “Sugar Trust” of favoring Cuban annexation because they wished to import cheap sugar. Elmer Ellis, Henry Moore Teller, Defender of the West (Caldwell, ID: Caxton Printers, 1941), 353. Their opposition ceased only after the American Sugar Refining Company “bought off” the beet sugar industry by investing heavily in beet sugar concerns and thus paving the way for the entry of Cuban sugar into US markets on (somewhat) favorable terms. See also, David F. Healy, The United States in Cuba, 205205. ]  [11:  LaFeber, The American Search for Opportunity, 142–144.  For more on objections to incorporating non-white races into the United States, see Beisner, Twelve Against Empire, 219, and Welch, Response to Imperialism, 105–106.  ] 

Just as important, Cuba’s nationalist elite would never have permitted annexation.    Patriotic clubs across Cuba demanded that the administration adhere to the Teller Amendment and set a date for Cuban independence.[footnoteRef:12]    The leaders of the Army of Liberation were equally adamant.  “I think that the United States will keep its word.  Otherwise, there will always be time to die, if not to win,” said General Calixto García, commander of Cuban insurgents in Oriente.[footnoteRef:13]    Máximo Gómez, Generalgeneral-in-Chief chief of the Army of Liberation and easily the most admired man in Cuba, made similar statements.    From a farm in central Cuba that served as his headquarters, Gómez told reporters of his admiration for the United States and of his desire to return to his native Santo Domingo.  He also warned a reporter from the New York Times that “the Cuban Army [of Liberation] has not fought for annexation or for Americans to take control of our affairs.  Our fight has been for independence, and the army will not be satisfied with anything else.”[footnoteRef:14]  As Ada Ferrer noted, “even a rule indirect and unacknowledged as imperial— -- required negotiation . . . . . That fact tempered American ambitions” and in the end required the Americans to grant the Cubans their independence.[footnoteRef:15]  It only remained to determine the form independence would take.[footnoteRef:16]  	Comment by AMY HUDNALL: Check notes 9-11 below and make sure they are correct, many of the book names and author names were incomplete. I completed them but mya wrong edition or wront book. 	Comment by AMY HUDNALL: Would it be helpful to explain that Oriente was a Cuban state in the footnote you have here? 	Comment by AMY HUDNALL: Look at note 16, does the sentence that reads “(often called “jingoes”) in the US, the …. Need to read “in the US, and the ….” [12: , Foner, The Spanish-Cuban-American War, 1: 395–397. ]  [13:  Calixto García to Tomás Palma, 23 August 1898, Archivo Nacional, Boletín del Archivo Nacional (Havana:  Archivo Nacional, 1936), 35: 124–125 (hereafter cited as B.A.N.). ]  [14:  Diario de la Marina, 10 September 1898; The New York Herald, 10 August, 1898.  ]  [15:  Ferrer, Insurgent Cuba, 199.  ]  [16:  Louis Pérez has argued that American elites in and out of the US government intended to annex Cuba after the war, favoring independence only after pro-annexationist Cubans failed to win elections. See Pérez, Cuba Between Empires, 270–281. While annexation (or something very close to it) was on the minds of men like Wood, his colleagues in Cuba, and some elites (often called “jingoes”) in the US, the McKinley Administration never had any plan to annex Cuba. To be sure, this policy owed far more to Cuban resistance and American domestic politics than American goodwill. See Schoultz, That Infernal Cuban Republic, 22–23.  ] 

The Americans had come up against an idea:  the idea of Cuba Libre (Free 
Cuba).  As envisioned most notably by José Martí, Cuba Libre promised freedom not only from Spain, but also from racism.  Cuban society, like any society with a long history of racial slavery, rested on rested on a hierarchy that put Afro Cubans at the very bottom of Cuban society, even after emancipation.  Martí’s vision rejected this kind of society in favor of one in which anyone, no matter his or her color, could be a part of the Cuban nation.[footnoteRef:17]  Such sentiments did not prevent the leaders of Cuba Libre from collaborating with the Americans, however.  Though adamantly opposed to compromising on the issue of Cuban independence, the men who led Cuba Libre, both civilians and soldiers, saw little to gain in resisting the American occupation.  In this General Gómez set the tone.    Gómez believed that resistance to the occupation, as well as reprisals against Spaniards and their collaborators, would invite American condemnation and contempt, while providing US troops with an excuse to remain in Cuba.  As General Máximo Gómez said to an associate, “The worst is that we are before a Tribunal, and the Tribunal is formed by the Americans.”[footnoteRef:18] Such scrutiny required “civilized” behavior of the highest order.  Members of the community of Cuba Libre generally followed Gómez’s lead as he proclaimed, “Spaniards and Cubans must embrace, forgetting the rancor that has passed never to return.”[footnoteRef:19]  Motivated by his “conviction that independence now depended on the performance and behavior of Cubans in the course of the American occupation,” wrote Louis Pérez, “Gómez emerged as the outstanding advocate of national reconciliation and collaboration.”[footnoteRef:20]  His second-in-command General Calixto García was no less adamant.  “The best order should reign everywhere, that respect for people and property— -- all rights of man— -- should become a fact, and each of us should be its most faithful guardian and defender,” said García to his subordinates. “Only in this way shall we prove to the world that we have full right in desiring to be free and independent,” continued García, “with the right to occupy a place among the nations of the earth . . . . It will exalt us in the eyes of the American people.”[footnoteRef:21]  If the Cubans did as “civilized” people were supposed to do, their leader General Máximo Gómez expected the McKinley administration Administration to honor “its solemn pledge” to grant independence, and resolved to wait until they did, saying, “After so many struggles and privations [it is possible] to wait a little longer.”[footnoteRef:22]    	Comment by AMY HUDNALL: Would it be helpful to provide a list of the various groups in the hierarchy. Below you talk about Spaniards and I assume that you mean Spaniards who are Cuban citizens or do you mean Spaniards that are actively colonizers and will return to Spain when decolonization is completely finished or handed over to the US.  [17:  Alejandro de la Fuente, A Nation for All: Race, Inequality, and Politics in Twentieth Century Cuba (Chapel Hill:  University of North Carolina Press, 2001), 24–39. Perhaps for this reason, thousands of Afro Cubans joined the ranks of the Army of Liberation.  ]  [18:  Orestes Ferrara, Mis relaciones con Máximo Gómez, 3rd ed. (Miami, FL:  Ediciones Universal, 1987), 215.  ]  [19:  Emilio Roig de Leuchsenring, Máximo Gómez:  el libertador de Cuba y el primer ciudadano de la República (Havana, Cuba: La Oficina del Historiador del Ciudad de la Havana, 1959), 51. For a thorough discussion in English of the Army of Liberation post-intervention, see José M. Hernández, Cuba and the United States: Intervention and Militarism, 1868–1933 (Austin: University of Texas Press), 61–65.  ]  [20:  Pérez, Cuba Between Empires, 1878–1902, 293.  ]  [21:  Foner, The Spanish-Cuban-American War, 2: 390.  ]  [22:  Máximo Gómez to Tomás Estrada Palma, 29 October 1898, B.A.N., 32: 94–95.  ] 

 General Gómez did more than wait, however; he collaborated with the American occupation almost from the beginning.  After receiving assurances that the US intended to honor the Platt Amendment, on 24 February 24, 1899, Gómez endorsed the occupation and agreed to a plan by which the Army of Liberation— -- then still officially in the field and an irritant to the Americans— -- would be demobilized.[footnoteRef:23]  Gómez never took a post in the government, and instead left Cuba for his native island of Santo Domingo to rest.  After returning, Gómez lived in a residence provided by Brooke, enjoying cash payments totaling from  $10,000 to $26,000 during the occupation.[footnoteRef:24]  It was money well spent.  “It is believed,” said a US War Department official, “that but for this assumption of the costs of Gómez’s living expenses, the conditions in Cuba might have paralleled those in the Philippines, and the United States Government, after fighting Spain to secure freedom for Cubans, might have been obliged to turn on them the forces of her armies.”[footnoteRef:25]  [23:  The Army of Liberation remained in the field following the victory of Spain. Though reduced in numbers from its peak, tens of thousands of soldiers were still on duty as of February 1899, often scrounging for food and supplies. Soldiers received about $75 upon departure. Foner, The Spanish-Cuban-American-War, 2: 442–443.  ]  [24:  Pérez, Cuba Between Empires, 301. ]  [25:  The New York Times, 17 June 1902.  Quoted in Pérez, Cuba Between Empires, 301.] 

Other prominent veterans of Cuba Libre followed Gómez, choosing cooperation over opposition.  During the occupation’s first months, authorities appointed Cubans to positions of responsibility who tended to be members of local elites, planters and businessmen, for example.[footnoteRef:26]  The Military Government also hired 10,000 veterans of the Liberation Army in the first few months of the occupation alone, most of them for public works projects designed to provide a measure of public assistance.[footnoteRef:27]  At higher levels, a competition for office ensued, causing strain within the Cuba Libre community of Cuba Libre, whose members spent increasing portions of their time seeking appointments with administrators or asking friends for recommendations.[footnoteRef:28]  To be sure, such collaboration was born of necessity; all Cubans, no matter their political affiliations, needed to eat.  But it was also about more than mere necessity.  On trial before the world, Cubans felt the need to follow Gómez’s lead and “demonstrate their capacity for self-rule,” thereby offering “proof of their civility, of their claim to the right to inhabit the world of civilized and modern nations.”[footnoteRef:29]   [26:  Pérez, Cuba Between Empires, 285–287.  ]  [27:  U.S. Department of War, Civil Report of Major General John R. Brooke, Military Governor of Cuba (Washington, DC:  Government Printing Office, 1900), 374–375; Franklin Matthews, The New Born Cuba (New York:  Harper and Brothers, 1899), 38.  ]  [28:  Pérez, Cuba Between Empires, 288–289; Martínez-Ortiz, Rafael. Cuba: los primeros anos de independencia, vol. 1, Imprint Artistique Lux, 1921, 33–34.  ]  [29:  Ferrer, Insurgent Cuba, 189.] 

Of course, the Americans had no intention of allowing Cuba’s nationalist elite to govern their country.  Indeed, the new Secretary secretary of War war, Elihu Root, and his new choice for Military Governor of Cuba, General Leonard Wood, felt compelled to forestall such a possibility.  On 1 December 1, 1899, Root announced that Cuba would proceed to independence by way of two elections:  The first for municipal offices, the second for a convention charged with writing Cuba’s first constitution.  Once the convention did its work, the occupation government would conduct a national election and transfer power to the newly elected government.  But elections posed a problem:  While Cuban nationalism was most popular among working class and poorer Cubans, pro-American sentiment was strongest among the elite.[footnoteRef:30]    Fortunately for Wood and Root, there was a solution to this “problem.”  “Elections might be arranged in such a way as to prevent the poor, uneducated and unruly mass of the population from bringing their full weight of numbers to bear,” observed one scholar, thereby reducing “anti-American majorities.”[footnoteRef:31] Thus, in order to “secure a conservative and thoughtful control of Cuba,” Root and Wood resolved to restrict suffrage to the literate and the propertied, as well as veterans of the revolution; veterans could not have been excluded without encountering significant resistance from the leaders of Cuba Libre.  Under this electoral law, said Wood, “eight out of ten people” eligible to vote in the election would be “our friends:  by our friends I mean the friends of good government and of what we are doing.”[footnoteRef:32]  The law, announced on 18 April 18, 1900, required voters to be male, over the age of twenty-one, and citizens of Cuba.  In addition to these requisites, “voters had to be literate, had to own property worth $250 (American gold), or had to have served in the Liberation Army prior to 18 July 18, 1898,” wrote Alejandro de la Fuente.[footnoteRef:33]  Under these rules, the voting population of Cuba was about 100,000 men.[footnoteRef:34] 	Comment by AMY HUDNALL: Out of how many men? Would give an idea of the proportion [30:  Interview with Wood, New York Times, 24 June, 1899.]  [31:  Theodore P. Wright, Jr., “United States Electoral Intervention in Cuba,” Inter-American Economic Affairs 22 (1959): 54. As Root and Wood knew very well, suffrage restrictions were popular in the American South in the later 19th century. See J. Morgan Kousser, The Shaping of Southern Politics:  Suffrage Restriction and the Establishment of the One Party South, 1880–1910 (New Haven, CT: Yale University Press, 1974).  For a more succinct account, see Adam Fairclough, Better Day Coming: Blacks and Equality, 1890–2000 (New York: Viking, 2001), 1–21.  ]  [32:  Leonard Wood to Elihu Root, 13 January 1900, and Leonard Wood to Elihu Root, 6 February 1900, box 170, Elihu Root Papers, Library of Congress. The United States government did much the same in Puerto Rico, where 70% of the adult male population could not vote, as well as in the territory of Hawaii, where suffrage restrictions were similar to those of the American South.  See Jacobson, Barbarian Virtues, 236–241.  ]  [33:  de la Fuente, A Nation for All, 57. ]  [34:  Richard Gott, Cuba: A New History (New Haven, CT: Yale University Press, 2006), 108.] 

II
Unfortunately, the Cubans elected the “wrong” people.  On 16 June 16, 1900, Cubans went to the polls to elect municipal governments.  Three parties competed, two of which favored a quick end to the occupation: the Republicans, led by José Miguel Gómez, governor of Santa Clara, and the National Party, which enjoyed the quiet support of Máximo Gómez.  A third party, the Democratic Unionists, favored annexation.[footnoteRef:35]  The results were not good, according to Root and Wood.  The National Party, the repository of Cuban nationalism, won a victory “for the extreme and revolutionary element.”[footnoteRef:36]    On July 25th, the Military Government of Cuba ordered the election, set for September 1st, of delegates to Cuba’s first constitutional convention, the Convención Constituyente.[footnoteRef:37]    The elections for the Convention, however, brought further disappointment.    The Democratic Unionists, the repository of pro-American sentiment, again did not do well, while the Nationalists instead sent the majority of delegates to the Convention. Wood saw the future of Cuba, and it was not to his liking:  “The Convention represents, at any rate, the class to whom Cuba would have to be turned over in case we withdraw, for the highly intelligent Cubans of the land owning, industrial and commercial classes are not in politics.”  It was a sad state of affairs, said Wood, to surrender Cuba to unsuccessful men, “doctors without patients, lawyers without practice and demagogues living on the subscriptions of the people and their friends.”[footnoteRef:38]  The Americans had hoped to mobilize the “best elements” in Cuban society, the pro-American Cuban bourgeoisie, but that had not worked.  “Even under controlled and favorable circumstances, supported by the occupation government and appealing to a comparatively exclusive electorate,” wrote Louis A. Pérez,  “pro-American conservatives had fared poorly at the polls.”[footnoteRef:39]  Not all Cubans were created equal in the eyes of the Americans; yet, those deemed by the Americans most fit to rule could not win elections.  The idea of Cuba Libre, which entailed “a history of cross-racial mobilization and antiracist discourse,” observed Ada Ferrer, “placed limits on what American occupiers could reasonably do.”[footnoteRef:40]  America’s policy had hit yet another wall, a wall constructed by Cubans.  	Comment by AMY HUDNALL: This citation appears to be incomplete [35:  Gott, Cuba: New History, 108.]  [36:  Civil Report of General Leonard Wood for 1900, 1: 52.  ]  [37:  Hereafter referred to as “the Convention.”  ]  [38:  Leonard Wood to Elihu Root, 26 September 1900, box 170, Elihu Root Papers, Library of Congress.  Wood saw in this low turnout more evidence for annexation: “The people of the Island are to-day [sic] enjoying more liberty than they have ever had before, and they are not, as a body, anxious to take another leap in the dark” of independence. ]  [39:  Pérez, Cuba Between Empires, 318.  ]  [40:  Ferrer, Insurgent Cuba, 200. ] 

But Root, ever the skillful lawyer, soon found a way around this wall:  A set of obligations enshrined in both an Act of Congress and the Cuban Constitution, as well as guaranteed in a bi-lateral treaty. These obligations would require the Cubans, no matter who has in the Presidential presidential Palacepalace, to behave as “civilized” people and guard US interests.[footnoteRef:41]  Root took some ideas from Senator Orville Platt, Republican of Connecticut and Chairman of the Senate Committee on Relations with Cuba.  Earlier in the session, Platt had convened a sub-committee to consider conditions for Cuban independence, forwarding them to Root for his consideration.[footnoteRef:42]  Root added a point of his own, perhaps the most controversial of all, reserving America’s right of intervention if Cuba strayed from the path of good government.  Of course, at no point did Root inform the Cubans of these deliberations.[footnoteRef:43]     	Comment by AMY HUDNALL: Is this meant to be was? Or is?  [41:  To formulate his preconditions, Root looked to Britain’s treaty relationship with Egypt. In 1882, the British forcibly occupied Egypt, the site of the Suez Canal, in order to quell a revolt that threatened the rule of Britain’s client, the Khedive. British forces quickly defeated the rebels and put the Khedive back in charge, provided that he took the advice of Britain’s representative and abided by a system of financial controls imposed by Whitehall. For more on the British intervention and occupation of Egypt, see John Darwin, The Empire Project: The Rise and Fall of the British World-System, 1830–1970 (Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press, 2009), 70–75, 77–78, 131–132; and Afaf Lutfi Al-Sayyid-Marsot, “The British Occupation of Egypt from 1882” in The Oxford History of the British Empire, volume III: The Nineteenth Century, ed. Andrew (Oxford, UK:  Oxford University Press,), 651–664; Elihu Root to John Hay, 11 January 1901, box 179, Elihu Root Papers, Library of Congress.  It should be noted that the Ottomans continued, formally at least, to govern Egypt.  ]  [42:  These conditions included regulating the power of the Cuban government to incur indebtedness and conclude treaties with foreign powers. John Spooner of Wisconsin, Hernando de Soto Money of Mississippi, and Henry M. Teller of Colorado made up the rest of the sub-committee. ]  [43:  Elizabeth Cobbs Hoffman argued that these sorts of “agreements” were common in the late 19th and 20th centuries around the world, as the great powers “pressured other states to accept new norms of international relations.”  See Cobbs Hoffman, American Umpire, 165.  ] 

On 21 February 21 1901, Wood formally notified the Convention of the content of what would soon become known as the Platt Amendment, sending a letter to Dr. Diego Tamayo Figueredo, the head of the Convention’s Committee on Relations.[footnoteRef:44]  Root and Wood went about securing Cuban assent through a mixture of threats and assurances.  Knowing of Cuban opposition, Root informed Wood that if the Convention refused to do as he wished, the administration would simply convene a convention that would ratify the amendment.[footnoteRef:45]  But Root also cajoled.  Specifically, Root directed Wood to reassure the Cubans that article three, by far the most controversial, gave the United States “no right which she does not already possess and which she would not exercise.”  In any case, Root directed Wood to tell the Cubans that the United States would not interfere in Cuban politics unless “actual failure or imminent danger in Cuban government” threatened; Root said the same thing to a delegation from the Convention that visited Washington, DC, seeking more generous terms.[footnoteRef:46]    Root also dangled the possibility of a commercial treaty, one that would admit Cuban goods into the US on favorable terms, after the Convention’s affirmative vote on the amendment of course.  The committee charged by the Convention with considering the Platt Amendment this took this as an opening for further dialogue, expressing their desire to conclude a treaty regulating their commercial relations with the US with an eye toward the free exchange of goods.  Surely this would provide the basis for a sense of common interest and purpose “between two communities so diverse, and in spite of their absolute independence, that [while] favoring American interests, unwraps, at the same time . . . a community that is the bond between two great peoples that populate this hemisphere.” [footnoteRef:47]	Comment by AMY HUDNALL: ? [44:  Leonard Wood to Diego Tamayo, 21 February 1901, copy in Elihu Root Papers, box 170, Library of Congress. This was the second notification the Convention received. Some days before, while on an alligator hunt, Wood informed a delegation from the Convention summoned to hear his news. ]  [45:  Elihu Root to Leonard Wood, 2 March,1901, box 170, Leonard Wood Papers, Library of Congress. At this time, though originally optimistic, Wood became more concerned as Cuban protests increased and Root remained firm, asking, “Can you indicate our action in case [the] Convention should refuse to accept Platt Amendment?” Leonard Wood to Elihu Root, 20 March 1901, box 170, Elihu Root Papers, Library of Congress. ]  [46:  Elihu Root to Leonard Wood, 29 March 1901, box 170, Elihu Root Papers, Library of Congress; Healy, The United States in Cuba, 178. ]  [47:  Diario de Sesiones de la Convención Constituyente, Informe acerca de las relaciones que deben existir entre Cuba y los Estados Unidos, presentado por la Comisión respectiva Apéndice al número 32 de 27 de febrero de 1901, 475–479.  Italics in quotation added by the author.   ] 

The time for counter proposals had passed, however.  Root, by way of Wood, demanded that the Cubans insert the language of the Platt Amendment into the Cuban Constitution with no subtractions, elaborations or qualifications— – or continue the occupation.[footnoteRef:48]    On 12 June 12, 1901, the Convention agreed to do just that by a vote of 16 to 11 with four abstentions.  It was welcome news to the Americans, much as was the capture of Filipino rebel Emilio Aguinaldo just a few months before, which severely impaired the Philippine resistance.   [48:  Leonard Wood to Elihu Root, 1 June,1901, box 170, Elihu Root Papers, Library of Congress.] 

Cuba Libre’s leaders had acquiesced to American demands.  Their reasons for doing so varied; some delegates felt coerced, others resigned.  But the delegates who voted yes also recognized that opposing the amendment, and by extension the United States, would jeopardize Cuban security and prosperity.  Said Havana delegate Emilio Nuñez, it seems “foolish to me . . . to fight in vain against the American republic, precisely [when it] would be the called upon to finalize the commercial and friendly treaty between both countries.”[footnoteRef:49]  Another delegate, Enrique Villuendas, admitted that the Platt Amendment “wounded our most dear sentiments.”  Nonetheless, he asked Cubans to look past the amendment and build their new nation.  “We should not dither . . . between the undetermined and the unknown; between annexation, which already sticks out its threatening face . . . and the Republic.”  Besides, noted Villuendas, “The Platt Amendment is written for Europe.”  The United States has “no wish to hurt us . . . even when that has turned out to be the way it seems.”[footnoteRef:50]  José Miguel Gómez, a general in the Army of Liberation and future President of Cuba, reminded his countrymen of some hard truths.  Because of its proximity to the United States, “Cuba must form part of the entire defensive plan of that country [the US] . . . thus, their efforts are reasonable in order to obtain from us declarations that reconcile our relations with theirs.”    What is more, Gómez reminded his countrymen, “it is necessary not to forget that Cuba is indissolubly linked to the United States in economic terms; that our future wellbeing depends greatly on that country, which, is almost our only market and principle supplier; and we would never be able to extract ourselves from its commercial influence, under penalty of seeing ourselves immersed in misery.”    And there was the security that the Platt Amendment offered.  “It serves as a shelter against foreign greed from which it would be very difficult for us to escape and defend ourselves; and, above all, so that Cuba may not fall into the excesses that with such frequency we see Latin republics,” concluded Gómez.[footnoteRef:51] 	Comment by AMY HUDNALL: I took this out of the note and added into text. Confusing to have a new name without identifying. Made me want to go hunt who it was and then lost the flow of your writing	Comment by AMY HUDNALL: something wrong w this quote, maybe the ‘THE’ shouldn’t be there/ 	Comment by AMY HUDNALL: again, check this quote, I added “the” [49:  La Lucha, 29 March 1901, Biblioteca Nacional José Martí..  ]  [50:  La Discusión, 7 May 1901. Biblioteca Nacional José Martí. Enrique Villuendas was a delegate from the province of Santa Clara.  ]  [51:  La Lucha, 9 May 1901. Biblioteca Nacional José Martí. Gómez was a delegate from the province of Santa Clara.  He would later serve as president from 1909–1913.  ] 

Where was Cuba’s most prominent citizen, General Gómez, in this debate:?  Ambivalently and sorrowfully in support of the Platt Amendment.  In the pages of his new nation’s newspapers, Gómez, nearing seventy, urged support for the convention and the men who approved the amendment.  To be sure, Gómez labeled the amendment, “That unconsulted demand . . .  thrown like a challenge at the face of this heroic country by a big and powerful nation,” while expressing concern at the amendment’s implications for Cuban independence.[footnoteRef:52]  “Undoubtedly, the Republic will come,” said Gómez in a letter to a friend, “but not with the absolute independence with which we had dreamed; no, there is no reason to argue that now.”[footnoteRef:53]  But there was more to Gómez’s musing than sorrow and regret.  He never spoke against the amendment publicly, and this reticence was taken to be support, however reluctant.[footnoteRef:54]  In addition, Gómez urged his former comrades in Cuba Libre, now in open disagreement with each other, to do so with respect.  While praising the convention for doing its duty in considering the amendment, the General also criticized those who insulted the amendment’s opponents, such as Juan Gualberto Gómez.  A prominent Afro-Cuban politician and veteran of the War of Independence, Gualberto Gómez had been criticized in public statements that alluded to his race.  “Where does that lead, my God?” asked Gómez in one public statement, noting that when it came to issues of race, Cuba “has glass tiles on the roof.”[footnoteRef:55]   [52:   Letter to the editor, La Lucha, 12 March 1901. Biblioteca Nacional José Martí.]  [53:  Letter to Sr. Gonzalo de Quesada, 17 June 1901. Printed in La Discusión, Máximo Gómez papers, Archivo Nacional de Cuba.  ]  [54:   Editorial, “Opinion de General Gómez”, La Lucha, May 22, 1901. Biblioteca Nacional José Martí.]  [55:  La Discusión, 17 June 17 1901, Biblioteca Nacional José Martí.  ] 

Such comments, argued Gómez, stained the Cubans’ reputation for self-government.    When we act without care, said Gómez, “we give the world the sad idea of what we were . . . before we were admired for our glorious labor” in the cause of independence.  Cubans should not forget “that many men of recognized talent and instruction are victims of the doubt that we can govern ourselves, and they even see a threatening ghost in the people of color.”[footnoteRef:56]  Unlike some delegates, he did not speculate on the importance of the US for Cuba.  Instead, Gómez asked his countrymen to look to the future and make Cuba Libre a reality. “ I have faith in the sanity of this great country,” wrote Gómez, “and that in its hours of greatest conflict it always knew to bear the heavy load of its misfortunes in order to triumph in the end. I also have faith, a lot of faith, in the strict spirit of the American people, rich and powerful.”[footnoteRef:57]    When the time came to elect Cuba’s first president, Gómez enthusiastically supported the candidacy of Tomás Estrada Palma, as pro-American a Cuban nationalist as ever lived, who had endorsed the Platt Amendment.  During the campaign, he urged Bartolomé Masó, an opponent of the Platt Amendment, to refrain from running for president, while publicly endorsing the notion to have Masó become Vice vice pPresident, if he withdrew in favor of Estrada Palma.[footnoteRef:58]   [56:   La Discusión, 17 June 1901, Biblioteca Nacional José Martí. Gómez also believed that continued resistance would prompt the US to renege on its promise of Cuban independence. See Pérez, Cuba Between Empires, 380–381. ]  [57:  Letter to the editor, La Lucha, 12 March 1901, Biblioteca Nacional José Martí.  ]  [58:  La Lucha, 17 July 1901; La Lucha, 12 August 1901, Biblioteca Nacional José Martí. ] 

III
The choice made by General Gómez and his comrades was a fateful one for the Cuban people and the American empire in Cuba.  America’s original allies, the Cuban bourgeoisie, had little popular support.  When they proved unable to win elections, even under decidedly favorable circumstances, the leaders of Cuba Libre took their places, albeit with reluctance and no small amount of ambivalence, becoming America’s principal collaborators.  The leaders of Cuba Libre had evaluated Cuba’s position, and decided – perhaps quite rightly – that the good favor of the US government was essential to the success of their vision.  It is equally clear that the Cubans wanted to prove themselves capable of civilized self-government.  The leaders of Cuba Libre, wrote Ada Ferrer, “perceiving themselves to act before observant and powerful American forces, opted to perform their capacity for civilization.”  Such a choice was appealing precisely because demonstrating such a “capacity would be self-vindicating” as well as “instrumental, because to demonstrate it was also, they hoped, to produce a specific result:  the evacuation of American forces and the establishment of an unambiguously free and independent republic.”[footnoteRef:59]  The Platt Amendment lay at the heart of this performance of civilization; the Americans had stated “they would leave once the locals proved themselves capable of self-rule,” a statement the Cubans believed, “but as evidence of that capacity they would accept only Cuban endorsement of the Platt Amendment.”[footnoteRef:60]  The leaders of Cuba Libre therefore did as both civilization and the Americans required of them, and the Americans left believing their jobs complete.   [59:  Ferrer, Insurgent Cuba, 191.  ]  [60:  Ferrer, Insurgent Cuba, 202.  ] 

  	 Of course, many of Cuba Libre’s leaders rejected just this kind of collaboration.  Alfredo Zayas, a delegate to the Convention and a future president, refused to endorse the Platt Amendment.  Juan Gualberto Gómez labeled the Platt Amendment an infringement on the sovereignty of Cuba and a betrayal of promises made by the United States.  “The Platt Amendment alters the letter and spirit of the Treaty of Paris and the Teller Amendment, since the Island of Cuba would be under the jurisdiction and sovereignty of the United States,” wrote Gómez.[footnoteRef:61]  Another opponent, General Lacret, announced in the pages of La Lucha that “ours would be the first Convention in the world that, upon constituting a country, would leave it compromised . . . . They can take [our independence], but we are not giving [it].”[footnoteRef:62]  Bartolomé Masó, a former general in the Army of Liberation, based his campaign for president in part on his opposition to the Platt Amendment.  It was, so his running mate Salvador Cisneros Betancourt noted, a “difficult duty to assume,” but one which “the welfare of the nation required them to undertake.”[footnoteRef:63]  Both withdrew their candidacies when it became clear that the Americans would never permit them to win— -- and their former comrades in Cuba Libre were prepared to stand aside and let that happen.[footnoteRef:64]  	Comment by AMY HUDNALL: I am not sure what La Lucha is, tried to figure out but wasn’t certain. Thought a newspaper but since is cited in a collection of archival materials I set up the citation as just that, manuscript collections,  published, if this is wrong then you may need to change these.  [61:  Juan Gualberto Gómez, Por Cuba Libre, 2nd ed., ed. Emilio Roig de Leuchsenring (Havana, Cuba: Editorial de Ciencias Sociales, 1974),105–111. ]  [62:  La Lucha, 26 March 1901, Biblioteca Nacional José Martí. ]  [63:  Salvador Cisneros Betancourt to Bartolomé Masó, 3 July 1901, Bartolomé Maso fondo,,Archivo Nacional de Cuba.  ]  [64:  Vásquez, Historia de Cuba, 435–438. Vásquez is very critical of those Cubans who supported the Platt Amendment, arguing that they did so out of a desire for access to American markets and a lack of confidence in their own people to govern themselves. Vilá, while acknowledging those sentiments, also points out that several delegates were concerned that rejecting the Platt Amendment would only continue the occupation. See Vilá, Historia de la guerra Cuba, 260–262.  ] 

Men such as Bartolomé Masó, however, did not hold power in the new Cuba.  In part, this fact reflected a successful change in the course of American policy, and a positive outcome (for Americans) to a process marked by no small amount of chaos.  It also reflected the influence the leaders of Cuba Libre exerted on what would become known as America’s first nation-building project.  Gone was annexation – thanks in no small part to Cuban nationalist resistance.  Gone too was an alliance with the most conservative elements of the Cuban elite; it was not necessary, thanks to the leaders of Cuba Libre, “the most congenial sector of the most politically solvent force in Cuba . . . individuals more or less politically compatible with the United States in possession of the necessary political credentials.”[footnoteRef:65]  The result was independence, albeit without sovereignty.[footnoteRef:66]  Such an arrangement was by no means foreordained; in Cuba, US leaders never enjoyed a empty canvass on which to paint.  Instead, their success in Cuba was the product not only of imperialist coercion, but also of collaborative nationalism.  Had General Gómez and his allies resisted, it is by no means certain that the Platt Amendment would ever have become the odious symbol it became.[footnoteRef:67]  	Comment by AMY HUDNALL: unclear, are you saying essentially Cuba Libre who were the most conegneial? This sentences needs something to clarify a bit [65:  Pérez, Cuba Between Empires, 371.  ]  [66:   This collaboration has led historians, Cuban and American alike, to argue that the US intervention not only subverted Cuban independence, but also Cuba Libre’s dream of racial democracy. The truth is more complex. There can be no doubt that the Americans’ racist assumptions and the coercion required to install a government dedicated to US interests impaired Cuba’s ability to function as a sovereign, democratic state. It is also true that “the seeds of the revolution’s undoing were present in the revolution itself” because Cuba Libre’s leaders desired to be considered “civilized” according to the “racialized assumptions about civilization and politics” that governed the period. Ferrer, Insurgent Cuba, 197. In this sense, the US did not export its racial categories to Cuba, but instead created new, contingent categories, unique to that time and place, in cooperation with a collaborative elite. Paul A. Kramer explored a similar phenomenon in his much-praised study of US-Filipino relations. See Kramer, The Blood of Government: Race, Empire, the United States, and the Philippines (Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press, 2006), 19–27.  ]  [67:  Without venturing too far down the road of what is called “counter-factual” or “virtual” history, it is interesting to note that the McKinley Administration had no effective “Plan B” if the Convention had refused to ratify the Platt Amendment.  ] 

 The Americans left Cuba following the election of Tomás Estrada Palma as Cuba’s first president, and the Republic of Cuba came into existence on 20 May 20, 1902.  Cubans no longer celebrate that particular date; indeed, Cubans associate May 20th less with independence than subservience because the Americans never truly left.  At regular intervals, they and their troops returned to support their Cuban collaborators in battles with opposition forces.[footnoteRef:68]  As the 1920s gave way to the 1930s, and diplomats replaced troops as agents of control, the Americans still determined the boundaries within which Cuba’s government could operate.    It took Fidel Castro and his revolutionary generation to rid Cuba of US influence, and in doing so, July 26th replaced May 20th as the date upon which Cubans celebrate their sovereignty.[footnoteRef:69]  Many Cubans were not present to the mark the change, however. They, the Cubans of the middle and upper classes, had already left Cuba to Fidel and his fellow barbudos, believing that the Americans would soon do what they had always done:  intervene to set things right.  Of course, the Kennedy administration Administration tried to do just that at the Bay of Pigs, but failed, and those Cubans most favorably disposed to US influence watched impotently from Miami as the Castro regime created a socialist state hostile to US interests with the aid of the Soviet Union.  These events were far from coincidental.  As historian Louis Pérez pointed out, the departure of America’s natural collaborators made it more likely, not less, that Castro’s socialist experiment would succeed because the emigration of the Cuban middle class “foreclosed any possibility of a sustained and extensive internal challenge to the revolution.”  What is more, added Pérez, “The flight of the opposition also served to strengthen the revolutionary consensus within the island, thereby contributing in another fashion to the further consolidation of the government.”[footnoteRef:70]  In 1901, America’s Cuban empire rested on the willingness of Cuban elites to cooperate with US interests.  And in 1959 it still did.  	Comment by AMY HUDNALL: does this term merit a footnote with definition? Or is it that widely understood? As someone w no background at all in Cuba’s history I did not know it. 	Comment by AMY HUDNALL: Check this citation, in particular the edition, it was missing from your list of references and had not been cited before so I completed but am not certain which edition you used. Change if necessary in referenc e list and here.  [68:  The United States returned in 1906 with troops to resolve a disputed election; they did the same in 1912 to help the Cuban government suppress a revolt led by the Partido Independiente de Color (PRC), a party dedicated to the welfare of Afro Cubans. The Wilson Administration supported the regime of Mario García Menocal by both diplomacy and force in 1917, and in the early 1920s General Enoch Crowder supervised Cuban politics from the position of “special representative” of the President of the United States and US Ambassador to Cuba. Another US ambassador to Cuba, Sumner Welles, paved the way for the departure of the dictator Gerardo Machado and the arrival of military strongman Fulgencio Batista between 1933–1934. In 1934, the US administration of Franklin D. Roosevelt abrogated the Platt Amendment. For more on these interventions, see Louis A. Pérez, Jr., Cuba Under the Platt Amendment, 1902–1934 (Pittsburgh: University of Pittsburgh Press, 1986), 98–107, 150–152, 167–172, 182–213, 301–332, an indispensable work for this period. For more on the PRC, see Aline Helg’s excellent study, Our Rightful Share: The Afro-Cuban Struggle for Equality (Chapel Hill:  University of North Carolina Press, 1995).  ]  [69:  On July 26, 1953, Fidel Castro, then a lawyer and political activist opposed to Fulgencio Batista, led a group of more than 100 followers in an attack on the Moncada Barracks, a military installation in the city of Santiago. Castro failed, losing a substantial portion of his group in battle and to subsequent military executions, but the attack and the resulting repression made him a national figure. See Hugh Thomas, Cuba: The Pursuit of Freedom (New York: Harper & Row, 1971), 824–844.  ]  [70:  Louis A. Pérez, Jr., Cuba: Between Reform and Revolution 3rd ed. (New York: Oxford University Press, 2005), 334–336. ] 
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